
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR 
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk 

 
 
 

Crime & Disorder 
(Overview & Scrutiny) 

Committee 
 

Councillor R J Wells (Chairman) 
Councillor A Sandhu MBE(Vice-Chairman) 

 
Councillor M J Bryant  

Councillor Mrs S P Butterfill 
Councillor D J Mote 

Councillor Mrs J A Rickwood 
Councillor M J Street 

 
 
 
 
 
 

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on 

 
Wednesday 13 February 2013 

 
at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford 

 

 

 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 



 

 
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 

AGENDA 
 

Wednesday 13 February 2013 
 
 

1. Apologies For Absence   

 

 To receive any apologies of absence.  
 

 

2. Declarations of Interest   

 

 To receive any declarations of interest from Members including the 
term(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director.   
 

 

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 12 
September 2012  

(Pages 1 - 
12) 

 

4. Urgent Items   

 

 The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda.  
 

 

5. To consider references from other Committees (if any)   

 

 There are no references from other Committees to date.  
 

 

6. Chairman's Update   

 

7. Regulation 9 Notice  (Pages 13 
- 16) 

 

 To consider any issues arising from the published Regulation 9 
Notice for the period 15 January 2013 to 31 May 2013.  
 

 

8. Regulation 10 Notice [General Exception Provisions Relating To 
Key Decisions] : Certificate of Authority to Disperse Groups  

(Pages 17 
- 34) 

 

 To note the details of the attached Regulation 10 Notice issued under 
the General Exception arrangements.  
 

 



 

9. Kent Probation : Service Overview and contribution to CSP   

 

 To receive a presentation from Kent Probation.  
 

 

10. Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership 
Strategic Assessment (SA): Part I - Executive Summary  

(Pages 35 
- 40) 

 

 To consider the Strategic Assessment (SA) Part I: Executive 
Summary, agreed by the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety 
Partnership on 15 January 2012.  
 

 

11. Work Programme  (Pages 41 
- 42) 

 

 Members are invited to note the contents of the Committee’s rolling 
Work Programme for 2013/14 and to comment accordingly. 
 
 
  
 

 

12. Dates for future meetings   

 

 To note the dates proposed for future meetings of the Committee, 
subject to approval by the General Assembly of the Council at its 
Annual Meeting on 8 May 2013. 
 

(i) Wednesday 11 September 2013 
 

(ii) Wednesday 12 February 2014 
 
  
 

 

Exclusion of Press and Public 

A. Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership 
Strategic Assessment (SA) : Part II 

(Pages 43 
- 82) 

 

 



1 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee held on Wednesday 12 September 2012. 

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor R J Wells (Chairman) 
Councillor M J Bryant 
Councillor Mrs S P Butterfill 
Councillor D J Mote 
Councillor Mrs J A Rickwood 
Councillor M J Street 
 

 
ABSENT: 
 

Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE 
 

 
 Dartford Borough Council Officers:- 

 
 Sheri Green – Strategic Director 
 Matt Roberts – Community Safety Officer, CSU 

 
 

LEAD MEMBERS: 
 

Councillor Mrs A D Allen and 
Councillor D A Hammock 
 

 
PRESENT TO RESPOND TO ISSUES RAISED BY THE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE: 
 
 C.I. Roscoe Walford – Dartford District Commander, Kent 

Police 
 Insp. Paul Cooke – Neighbourhood Insp. Dartford CSU 
 Stuart Albon – Risk Reduction Manager, KF&RS  
 Steve Appleton – KF&RS 

 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor A S Sandhu. 
 
The Chairman welcomed Stuart Albon and Steve Appleton from Kent Fire & 
Rescue Service to the meeting and thanked them for agreeing to address the 
Committee.  
 
The Chairman also welcomed Chief Inspector Roscoe Walford, Dartford 
District Commander and Inspector Paul Cooke, Neighbourhood Inspector 
(Dartford CSU) to the proceedings in addition to noting the presence of the 
Strategic Director and the Community Safety Officer (CSU).  
 
Lead Members Councillor Mrs Ann Allen (Community and Tax Payer 
Involvement) and Councillor Dave Hammond (Licensing and Enforcement) 
were also in attendance by standing invitation. 
 

Agenda Item 3Page 1



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 12 SEPTEMBER 2012 
 
 

2 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

3. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 25 
JANUARY 2012  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 25 January 2012 be confirmed as 
accurate. 
 

4. URGENT ITEMS (IF ANY)  
 
The Chairman confirmed that there were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

5. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY)  
 
There were no references from other Committees. 
 

6. FORWARD PLAN  
 
The Committee-Coordinator advised Members that the report on ‘Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL): Draft Charging Schedule’ would now be considered 
later in the year. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That the contents of the Forward Plan for the period 1 September 2012 to 31 
December 2012, as amended by the above minute be noted. 
 

7. KENT FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICE  
 
Members received a PowerPoint presentation from representatives of the 
Kent Fire & Rescue Service (KF&RS) covering the Service’s aims and key 
performance areas. 
 
Members were advised that the principle aim of the KFRS was to save lives 
and reduce risks through effective partnership working. The KFRS ‘mission 
statement’ was to ‘Engage with our different communities and to respond to 
their concerns, as partners we can make a real difference to the lives of 
people throughout Kent and Medway’ [Director of Service Delivery, KFRS 
2008]. 
 
KFRS activity was undertaken by 5 Operational Groups – East, West, North, 
South and Mid. Each Group had a profile and service delivery plan, delivered 
collectively through 20 Operational Clusters with specific designated tasks. 
The Thames Gateway was serviced by Operational Clusters situated in  
Dartford, Gravesham and Darenth, focusing on four key areas of activity: 
 

Agenda Item 3 Page 2



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 12 SEPTEMBER 2012 
 
 

3 

Reducing KSI’s from Road Traffic Collisions  

• By working in partnership to target safety messages at those drivers 
most at risk; 

• Through delivering awareness and education at key events to reinforce 
safety messages; 

• By ensuring a timely and effective operational response. 
 
Operational features included targeting Schools, Youth Forums and Year 11 
and 6th Form pupils learning to drive. Major recent initiatives included bussing 
school parties to a ‘mock collision’ event at Bluewater where KFRS staff 
demonstrated the full range of skills deployed at major traffic incidents; a 
‘Licence to Kill’ video, distributed to target audiences to improve driving skills. 
Members were advised that effective partnership with the Police, Ambulance 
Service, Schools and parents were essential to achieving results. 
 
Reducing Casualties from Fire 

• By working with Partners to identify Vulnerable People in particular: 
the aged, disabled, adults with mental health issues and children 
under 5 years old; 

• Through the use of local intelligence, risk information tools and 
incident related data, to help target those most at risk from fire related 
injuries;  

• By targeting areas of social deprivation and identifying those most at 
risk due to location, lifestyle and circumstances. 

 
The above measures were employed as a pre-emptive ‘mosaic tool’ pooling 
the resources of partner Agencies within the CSP, in an effort to break-down 
social barriers and better engage with ‘at risk’ groups. 
 
Preserving the Gateway to the Garden of England 

• Through Partnership working to minimise outdoor fires; 
• By promoting community engagement with those most likely to commit 

Anti Social Behaviour (ASB); 

• By working with Partners and Local Communities to promote Flood 
Awareness & Preparedness. 

 
Informing and preparing the public was essential. A targeted approach via the 
Dartford CSU had achieved the lowest incidences of fires on Dartford Heath in 
5 years: increased Ranger and Police patrols and visits by Trading Standards 
Officers to retailers selling combustible materials in a joint approach had 
achieved significant results. 
 
Parish Councils and the Environment Agency staff had been instrumental in 
promoting Flood Awareness. All KFRS staff were trained to level 1 
awareness, with key station staff trained to level 2 and 3 awareness.  
 
Mitigating Risk to Business 

• Through engaging with local industry to help keep ‘business in 
business’; 

Agenda Item 3Page 3



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 12 SEPTEMBER 2012 
 
 

4 

• By advising and guiding business on compliance issues; 
• Through keeping people safe from fire in the workplace. 

 
Members were advised that the continuing economic downturn had led to an 
increase in business related incidents, as owners spent less on safety 
measures and neglected the legislative requirements of the Fire Safety Order 
(FSO). KFRS continued to educate business owners of the requirements of 
the FSO to help mitigate the risk to businesses and were able to report that, to 
date, no prosecutions had been undertaken in Kent for non-compliance with 
the FSO. 
 
In concluding his presentation, the Risk Reduction Manager provided 
Members with the following summary of KFRS objectives: 
 

• To reduce the number of fires, deaths and injuries; 
• To reduce road accidents, deaths and injuries; 
• Being well prepared to deal with emergencies; 
• Providing high quality and value for money services; 
• Engaging with communities to raise awareness; 
• Helping to improve the quality of life for local people; 
• Working with businesses to support the local economy. 

 
In subsequent discussion several Members expressed their appreciation of 
KFRS efforts in their Wards and the very positive feedback provided by 
residents in their local communities and the Borough as a whole. Particular 
areas of KFRS activity which drew special mention were:  
 

• Advice to the Dartford Elders Forum, Sheltered Housing, disabled 
residents and those with mental health issues and learning difficulties; 

• Connecting with Youth over ASB issues, visiting the Youth Council 
and the Armageddon road safety initiative; 

 
The Strategic Director paid her own tribute to the efforts of KFRS on behalf of 
the Borough and Kent as a whole.  KFRS officers were always there, both in a 
practical capacity and as a key strategic partner within the Dartford and 
Gravesham Community Safety Partnership over the years. In particular she 
noted the effective work undertaken by KFRS for Dartford in the areas of: 
combating loose rubbish fires, fly-tipping, work with schools and youth 
organisations especially engaging with youth and young people over ASB 
issues. Connecting with schools was vital and Members were asked to 
encourage schools they were connected with, to invite KFRS officers to give 
presentations on the wide range of subjects they covered. 
 
The Chairman echoed the many expressions of thanks and appreciation from 
the Committee, adding his own particular thanks as a Heath Ward Member, 
for the key preventative measures undertaken by KFRS which had produced 
a significant reduction in fire –related incidences at Dartford Heath.  
 
 

Agenda Item 3 Page 4



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 12 SEPTEMBER 2012 
 
 

5 

8. COMMUNITY SAFETY PLAN  
 
The Chairman invited the Community Safety Officer (CSO) to present the 
Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership, Community Safety 
Plan 2012.  
 
The CSO advised Members that the Community Safety Plan 2012 was 
informed by the Partnership’s Strategic Assessment (SA) document, 
previously considered by the Committee at their meeting on 25 January 2012.  
The priorities identified and views expressed by partner agencies, residents 
and elected Members in the SA had been taken forward into the Community 
Safety Plan 2012. The Plan would guide the pro-active work of partner 
agencies for the current fiscal year and ensure that the focus on the 
Community Partnership’s agreed priorities was maintained.  
 
The CSO highlighted the following points for Members in his presentation of 
the 2012 Plan:  
 

• Youth Offending rates were at an historic low; 
• Dartford and Gravesham residents had been consulted over the 

Partnership Priorities for 2012, but the public response had been poor 
with only 303 residents completing the form; 

• However, some 91% of responders felt the Priorities identified in the 
2012 Plan were right for improving community safety in Dartford and 
Gravesham; 

• Integrating road safety measures into CSP priorities was difficult, 
because they did not qualify as ‘crime prevention’ measures. Added 
factors complicating the improvement of road safety measures for the 
Borough was the significant volume of non-resident traffic passing 
through Dartford via the M25 and A2 and visiting Bluewater. Targeting 
such transient drivers for road safety education was difficult; 

• Contacts for all the Partnership Agencies were contained at the end of 
the Plan. 

 
The following points were subsequently confirmed by Officers and Police 
colleagues for Members: 
 

• The public consultation exercise over Partnership Priorities had been 
widely advertised in the local press, ‘The Link’ and ‘In Touch’ 
magazines and the Council and all other Partnership websites. Parish 
Clerks had also been asked to publish the material on their websites; 

• Members were advised that the public response to the 2011 
consultation exercise had been equally poor, despite the offer of prizes 
for completed responses; 

• The timescale for consultation with residents was severally limited. The 
SA document was agreed by CSP partners in January each year with 
the annual CSP Plan required to be published by 31 March; 

Agenda Item 3Page 5



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 12 SEPTEMBER 2012 
 
 

6 

• E-mailing the Partnership Priorities to Ward Counsellors in advance, to 
prime the 2013 consultation exercise with residents would be 
considered; 

• A disproportionate amount of crashes resulted from drivers using 
mobile telephones, despite the imposition of £60 spot fines and 3 point 
penalties; 

• Drink/Driving and speeding continued to pose problems; 
• The 17/24 year-old age group are disproportionately represented in 

those killed or seriously injured on the roads and are an at risk group; 

• 99% of accidents could be avoided if the driving public complied with 
highway enforcement measures and education initiatives; 

• Overall costs for fatal traffic accidents occurring on the M25 were 
estimated at £1.7M per major incident, the cost of major incidents in 
town and urban arrears were estimated at £600K each.  

 
In response to a specific question from a Member; the Strategic Director 
explained that the Police, KF&RS and the Council CSUs were the partners 
most involved in the operational activities of the CSP. Other partners with 
fewer resources played a more strategic role e.g. Dartford & Gravesham 
NHS. She further advised that continuity of contact within CSP partner 
organisations was important. The on-going changes within the Health sector 
had had a particularly detrimental effect in this respect, making it difficult to 
establish good partnership links and tackle issues such as mental health, 
which had a significant impact on crime rates and Police resources.   
 
Further Member debate concentrated on the perennial problem of how best to 
measure the Public’s perception of crime and the subsequent effective 
targeting of Partnership resources in response to that public perception.   
 
Members were informed that many National Indicators (N.I.s) formerly used to 
measure public perception of crime had been dropped by the Government. 
PCSO perception in Dartford was that the majority of residents were primarily 
concerned with dog fouling, litter, speeding and noise levels. Levels of 
concern regarding Anti Social Behaviour (ABS) also remain high. However, 
public perception of ABS was a very subjective area, which varied across the 
Borough.  
 
Members were advised that the Kent Crime Victims Survey was the only tool 
currently used to gather information on public perceptions of safety. Some 80 
residents were surveyed each Quarter. In the last survey between 95% - 96% 
of resident’s surveyed felt safe, no survey had shown less than a 94% ‘safety’ 
rate. The next survey would take place in Stone. The Neighbourhood 
Inspector confirmed that residents were interviewed face-to-face, through a 
door-knocking exercise. He said that meeting resident concerns over 
persistent dog fouling, ASB and high noise levels were achievable with 
effective consultation. The District Commander undertook to share the 
outcome of the Stone survey with Members. 
 

Agenda Item 3 Page 6



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 12 SEPTEMBER 2012 
 
 

7 

In response to a particular Member concern, the Strategic Director explained 
that proposed KCC changes on the use of local authority re-cycling depots 
was subject to consultation. The aim was to stop trade waste going to 
domestic centres. She agreed the measure may increase the danger of trade 
fly-tipping. 
 
Addressing other areas of Member concern, the Strategic Director said that 
the election of the Police and Crime Commissioner on 15 November 2012 
would have an impact on Kent CSPs. A working relationship between the 
PCC and Kent CSPs would need to be established. The proposed Kent 
Strategic Assessment (SA) document for the PCC would impact on individual 
SA documents to be developed and agreed by CSPs.  
   
In concluding debate, the Chairman thanked the CSO for compiling the 
Community Safety Plan for 2012 and the Strategic Director and CSP 
colleagues for attending to respond to Members questions. 
 

9. PERFORMANCE  
 
Members were asked to note the tabled Performance Progress Report, 
detailing reductions in various crime types and public perception of anti-social 
behaviour, prior to submission of the report to the Dartford & Gravesham 
Community Safety Partnership for approval, on 27 September 2012.  
 
The Chairman invited the CSO to summarise his report for Members prior to 
detailed discussion.  
 
Members were advised that the report gave details of Kent Police Recorded 
Crime on a rolling year basis, comparing the periods April – March 2011 to 
April – March 2012. Figures for the end of the 2012 financial year showed a 
reduction of 5.7% in total recorded crime for Dartford, continuing the 
downward trend for the Borough and comparing favourably with the Kent-wide 
fall of 3.6%. Gravesham recorded crime had fallen by 4.3%. 
 
The CSO said that the ‘Bluewater effect’ continued to impact on Dartford’s 
crime statistics. Footfall at the retail complex had increased by 200% leading 
to increased levels of recorded theft. Dartford’s recorded crime per 1,000 of 
the population was higher than the Kent average, but below average 
compared with other areas within Dartford’s Most Similar Group (MSG) in 
Kent, in which Dartford had risen from 7th to 6th place. Members were advised 
that the public perceptions of crime, as set out in the table on page 5 of the 
report, showed an increase in 6 areas and a decrease in 5.  
 
The Strategic Director added that, in the context of Most Similar Groups, 
Dartford compared favourably with Thurrock [table report page 6]. She judged 
Thurrock to be a more realistic comparator than those available in Kent, being 
a similar sized town bordering the M25 which also suffered from the impact of 
a major retail complex [Lakeside].  
 

Agenda Item 3Page 7



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 12 SEPTEMBER 2012 
 
 

8 

The District Commander advised that Bluewater equated to a town centre 
conurbation in terms of policing requirements. Kent Police had adopted a new 
approach, concentrating on a deterrent policy of crime prevention at 
Bluewater, similar to that developed for Dartford town centre in recent years. 
Latest figures showed a significant decrease in Bluewater crime of 31.9%, 
allied to a detection rate of 54%. Recent unrefined data for all crime across 
the Borough indicated a reduction of 10.7% with a 14.7% reduction in ASB, 
(although the latter figure was subject to definition).  
 
In response to specific Member concerns over Ebbsfleet, Eastern Quarry and 
rural crime, the District Commander said that he believed Police performance 
to be good. The right type, quality and amount of Police response was being 
deployed in an effective Neighbourhood strategy. He added that Dartford 
targets had been achieved for the period under review including during the 
Olympic and Paralympic Games.  
 
An increase in burglaries other than dwellings was noted by some Members. 
Garages on the Temple Hill estate were increasingly prone to theft and 
suffered from a lack of communal safety lighting. It was noted that the Head of 
Housing had recently undertaken a site visit to the area in an attempt to 
address the problem.   
 
The District Commander advised that thefts from garages and sheds were a 
major problem that had suffered a ‘spike’ in criminal activity. In recent months 
increased patrols and advice to owners to fit adequate locks had produced a 
3.3% reduction compared to last year.  
 
The CSO advised that the Crime Prevention Panel were holding a 
neighbourhood event at Temple Hill coordinated by the Housing Officer, in 
response to resident concerns. Resident involvement was vital to combat 
crime in the garage area, which was dark and suffered from a low footfall. 
Similar initiatives had proved effective in Bean and Darenth the Ward Member 
advised, particularly fitting good locks and installing effective lighting. 
 
At the conclusion of debate, the Chairman congratulated the Dartford District 
Commander and the joint CSU team on an excellent set of figures which 
indicated a continued decrease in the overall crime rate for Dartford.  
 

10. LONDON 2012 OLYMPIC GAMES: IMPACT ON CRIME AND DISORDER 
LEVELS IN DARTFORD  
 
In confirmation of earlier discussion under ‘Performance’ (Minute No.9), the 
Dartford District Commander, C.I. Roscoe Walford advised Members that, in 
terms of increased criminal activity,  the Olympics and Paralympic Games had 
not impacted adversely on Dartford and the surrounding District.  
 
He said that contrary to predicted scenarios, traffic on the M25, A2 and at the 
Dartford Crossing and Tunnel had flowed as normal. Ebbsfleet station had 
operated effectively and the Olympic and Paralympic travel and parking 
arrangements had operated well. Crime in Dartford had been dealt with 

Agenda Item 3 Page 8



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 12 SEPTEMBER 2012 
 
 

9 

effectively and detection rates for the District maintained, despite the absence 
of Dartford officers on Olympic duty. 
 
 
  RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the Dartford District Commander and his team and CSU officers 
be commended for their effective performance during the period of the 
London Games; 

2. That Kent Police be congratulated on their contribution to the running 
of both the Olympic and Paralympic Games events.  

 
11. POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER AND POLICE AND CRIME PANEL : 

AN UPDATE  
 
This report updated Members on the preparations in Kent for the replacement 
of the Kent Police Authority by an elected Police and Crime Commissioner 
(PCC) and the establishment of a Police and Crime Panel (PCP) for Kent. The 
Committee were previously briefed on the proposals by Mr Graham Hooper, 
Chief Executive of the Kent Police Authority, at their meeting on 25 January 
2012. 
 
The Strategic Director advised Members that the newly elected PCC would in 
fact have a seven day hand-over period [with the KPA Chief Executive], rather 
than take up their duties immediately (para 3.2 of the report). The handover 
would effectively represent the first step in a process of mutual cooperation 
between the CSP and the newly elected PCC. However, Members were 
asked to note that unlike the KPA, the PCC would not be a ‘responsible 
authority’ within the CSP and Members could not as a result, require the PCC 
to attend Crime and Disorder (O&S) Committee meetings. Overview and 
scrutiny of the PCC [not of Kent Police or the Chief Constable] would be 
provided by the newly elected Kent Police and Crime Panel (PCP), 
comprising of elected Members from each local authority. Details of Dartford’s 
proposed representation on the PCP had been set out in the report to be 
considered by Cabinet on 13 September 2012.  
 
The District Commander (KP) advised Members that the newly elected PCC 
would be empowered to commission services on behalf of Kent Police, a 
significant change to the current arrangements. The PCC could, for example, 
take responsibility for Police buildings (the Estate) and could seek to make 
savings in this area, also in the staffing of the current Police H.R. operation. 
Such internal changes could have a significant impact. The Kent Chief 
Constable would remain in overall charge of operational issues, but the PCC 
could recommend initiatives on behalf of residents, given his elected position, 
that fits with his manifesto.  
 
The Strategic Director added that, in order to provide prospective PCC 
candidates with an awareness of local issues, the Kent County Council (KCC) 
Community Safety Unit (CSU) would be hold a briefing session on 20 
September. Candidates would receive a briefing pack and participate in a Q 

Agenda Item 3Page 9



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 12 SEPTEMBER 2012 
 
 

10 

and A session. All CSUs in Kent, including Dartford and Gravesham, had 
contributed to the information pack. At present, some 50% of the candidates 
had confirmed their intention to attend the briefing.  
 
In subsequent debate, Members expressed their concern over the interaction 
between the PCC and CSPs relationship despite the formation of the PCP. 
Members feared a reduction in their ability to scrutinize local issues and 
concerns.  
 
The District Commander advised that Kent Police were in the process of 
examining the practicalities of their own relationship with the PCC, through a 
dedicated Association of Chief Police Officers team. Kent Police appreciated 
that the PCC when elected would have manifesto commitments to fulfil. 
However, the responsibility for Police Operations would remain with the Chief 
Constable.  
 
In concluding debate, the Chairman advised Members that CSPs would have 
to work with the new system. 
   

RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted.  
 
 
 
 

12. WORK PROGRAMME  
 
The report sought agreement for a proposed Work Programme for the Crime 
and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) Committee for the 2012-13 Municipal 
Year and beyond, given the Committee’s bi-annual meeting schedule.  
 
With reference to previous Member discussion that evening (Minute No. 11), 
the Strategic Director noted that a Review of the introduction of Police and 
Crime Commissioners and their impact on community safety in Dartford, was 
due to be considered by the Committee at their Summer 2014 meeting. 
 
  RESOLVED: 
 
That the contents of the proposed rolling Work Programme for the 2012-13 
and subsequent municipal years for the Committee be agreed as submitted. 
 

13. ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE 2011/12 MUNICIPAL YEAR  
 
In response to a particular Member concern, the Committee Coordinator 
advised that the Draft Annual Report 2011/12 document was a precise’ of the 
Minutes recording the work carried out by the Committee during the previous 
municipal year. 
 
 

Agenda Item 3 Page 10



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 12 SEPTEMBER 2012 
 
 

11 

 RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the contents of the Crime and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) 
Committee Draft Annual Report 2011/12 be noted without amendment;  

2. That the report be submitted to the next meeting of the GAC.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The meeting closed at 9.05 pm 

 
  

 
 

Councillor R J Wells 
CHAIRMAN 

Agenda Item 3Page 11



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



15 January 2013 - 31 May 2013 
 

1 of 4 

 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

LIST OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS – REGULATION 9 NOTICE 
 
This document lists all key decisions due  to be taken  in the forthcoming 4 months in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. It also lists and contains particulars of any 
items where it is likely that the public will be excluded because consideration of the matter in public would disclose confidential of exempt 
information. The reasons for going into closed session are given in each case. An updated list will be published monthly. 
 
All decisions are made by Cabinet collectively. 
 
Cabinet Members: 
 
Councillor J A Kite, MBE, Portfolio: Leader & Overall Strategy 
Councillor A R Martin, Portfolio: Deputy Leader, Strategic Council Finances & Strategic Service Provision 
Councillor P F Coleman, Portfolio: Front Line Services, Customer Champion & Housing 
Councillor C J Shippam, Portfolio: Town Centre 
Councillor A Lloyd, Portfolio: Environment, Leisure & Events 
 
All of the reports contained in this list, where open to the public, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk at least 5 clear 
days before the day of the meeting or, if later, whenever they become available. All reports provide details of any background documents which 
have been relied upon to a material degree during production of the report, or relied upon when formulating recommendations or options for 
decision. Hard copies or extracts from these reports can be obtained on request by emailing memberservices@dartford.gov.uk. 
 
This notice supersedes all previous notices. A

genda Item
 7

P
age 13



 

2 of 4 
 

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED 

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM 

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW 

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS 

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR 

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified) 

Tenancy Policy and Allocations 
Policy 
 
To adopt the draft Tenancy Policy 
and Allocations Policy for 
implementation in April 2013. 
 

Cabinet 
7 Mar 2013 
 
General Assembly 
of the Council 
19 Mar 2013 
 

Waiting list applicants, 
tenants, residents, 
housing providers and 
outside agencies. 

 
 

Peter Dosad, Head of Housing 
Tel: 01322 343 327 
peter.dosad@dartford.gov.uk 

OPEN 

Write-off of Council Tax 
 
To consider writing-off Council Tax 
where it has not been possible to 
obtain payment because the 
taxpayer cannot be traced or the 
debt is otherwise irrecoverable. 
 

Cabinet 
7 Mar 2013 
 

  
 

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager 
Tel: 01322343007 
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk 

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended) 

Write-off of Housing Benefit and 
Council Tax Benefit 
Overpayments 
 
To consider the write-off of Housing 
Benefit and Council Tax Benefit 
overpayments, where it has not been 
possible to obtain payment, where 
the Tribunals Service has exercised 
its discretion not to recover overpaid 
sums or where recovery is not 
permissible under the relevant 
Housing Benefit or Council Tax 
Benefit Regulations. 
 

Cabinet 
7 Mar 2013 
 

  
 

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager 
Tel: 01322343007 
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk 

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraphs 1 and 3 
of Schedule 12A of 
the Local 
Government Act 
1972 (as amended) 

A
genda Item

 7
P

age 14



 

3 of 4 
 

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED 

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM 

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW 

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS 

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR 

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified) 

Write-off of National Non-
Domestic Rates 
 
To consider writing-off Non Domestic 
Rate debts where it has not been 
possible to obtain payment because 
of insolvency, because the ratepayer 
cannot be traced or where the debt 
is otherwise irrecoverable. 
 

Cabinet 
7 Mar 2013 
 

  
 

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager 
Tel: 01322343007 
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk 

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended) 

National Non-Domestic 
Discretionary Rate Relief 
 
To consider granting discretionary 
rate relief to charities or non-profit 
making organisations, or to certain 
businesses in a designated Rural 
Settlement in the Borough, who had 
made applications in respect of 
2012/2013 since the last report was 
referred to Cabinet on 23 February 
2012, or who had made applications 
in respect of 2013/2014. 
 

Cabinet 
7 Mar 2013 
 

  
 

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager 
Tel: 01322343007 
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk 

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended) A

genda Item
 7

P
age 15



 

4 of 4 
 

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED 

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM 

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW 

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS 

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR 

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified) 

Sundry Debt - Write-off 
 
To consider writing-off a debt for the 
rent of a commercial premises where 
it has not been possible to obtain 
payment because of insolvency.  
 

Cabinet 
7 Mar 2013 
 

  
 

Steve Brooks, Head of Finance 
and Resources 
Tel: 01322 343317 
steve.brooks@dartford.gov.uk 

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraphs 1 and 3 
of Schedule 12A of 
the Local 
Government Act 
1972 (as amended) 

A
genda Item

 7
P

age 16



                
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 

13 FEBRUARY 2013 
 

GENERAL EXCEPTION PROVISIONS RELATING TO KEY DECISIONS: 
CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORITY TO DISPERSE GROUPS 

 
 
1.   Summary 
 

1.1 In accordance with Standing Order 54 (6) (e), to note the details of a 
Regulation 10 Notice that has been issued. 

 
2.   RECOMMENDATION 
 

2.1     That the report be noted. 
 

 
3.   Background and Discussion 
 

3.1 A Regulation 10 Notice relating to a matter which was a key decision has 
been issued under the General Exception arrangements. It concerns the 
following issue: 

 
Certificate of Authority to Disperse Groups 

 
Reason for General Exception:  There has been a significant 
increase in anti-social behaviour and low level criminal activity on 
Temple Hill which is having a negative impact on business and 
vulnerable residents. This needs to be dealt with before it escalates 
further. Kent Police are able to resource a Dispersal Area over the next 
3 months which, in tandem with other interventions, is expected to 
address the issue. 
 

3.2 A copy of the associated report that was considered by Cabinet on 24 
January 2013 is attached at Appendix A. 

 
4.   Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
 Not applicable. 

 
5.  Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk assessments 
 

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

  
6. Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Report to 24 January 2013 Cabinet: Certificate of Authority to 
Disperse Groups 

Agenda Item 8Page 17



                
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 

13 FEBRUARY 2013 
 

  

     
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Documents consulted Date File 

Ref 
Report  
Author 

Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

Standing Orders-
Regulation 10 
Notices 

26 Sep 
2012 

 A Stoneham 
(01322) 343330 

Member 
Services 
(MD) 

N/A 

 

Agenda Item 8 Page 18



APPENDIX A 

CABINET 
24 JANUARY 2013 

 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORITY TO DISPERSE GROUPS 

 

Joyce Green, Littlebrook wards. 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This is a Key Decision as it is significant in terms of its effects on communities 

living or working in the area of the Borough comprising two or more wards. 
 
1.2 The report seeks approval to sign a certificate of authority to disperse groups 

under the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 part 4, sections 30-36. 
 
2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1  That, in respect of the designation of a dispersal area encompassing the roads 

in and around Temple Hill, Dartford, in order to facilitate the dispersal of 
groups by the Police under the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003, the Managing 
Director be granted delegated authority to sign the Certificate of 
Authority/Authorisation to Disperse Groups at Appendix A to the report. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1. The Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 provides the Police with powers to 
disperse groups of two or more who are in a public place and acting in 
a manner that has or is likely to cause alarm, distress or harassment 
towards a member of the public. 
 

3.2. A Police Officer can direct the group to disperse and direct those 
persons who do not live in the area to leave the relevant locality and 
prevent them from returning for a period not exceeding 24 hours.  
Between the hours of 9pm and 6am, a Police Officer finding an 
unsupervised individual under 16 may remove the person to their 
home.  The Police Reform Act 2002 allows Police Community Support 
Officers to use these powers.  A person who knowingly contravenes a 
direction is liable to a fine or imprisonment for a term not exceeding 3 
months. 

 
3.3. Designation of a dispersal area has to be agreed by the Council and 

the Police Superintendent and a Certificate of Authority/Authorisation to 
Disperse Groups must be submitted to the Council and signed by a 
duly authorised Officer. The  Certificate must specify:   

 
• The exact location of the dispersal area;  
• The grounds on which the authorisation is given;  
• When the powers are exercisable, that is, the period for 

which dispersal is valid (including days and/or times); and  
• A map clearly illustrating the designated area.   
 

Agenda Item 8Page 19



APPENDIX A 

CABINET 
24 JANUARY 2013 

 
3.4. Through the CSU the Council and Kent Police have been working to 

tackle the recent increase in anti-social behaviour in the Temple Hill 
area. To this end Kent Police have requested the Council sign a 
Certificate of Authority to disperse groups in respect of an area around 
Temple Hill, Dartford.  Authority is being sought for a three month 
period from 31 January 2013 to 30 April 2013. A copy of the Certificate 
of Authority is attached as Appendix 1. 

 
Where the Police Superintendent considers that the level of antisocial 
behaviour within the designated area has been reduced substantially 
and contemplates withdrawing the authorisation prior to the agreed 
expiry date, the Superintendent must once again consult with the 
Council. 

 
3.5. Under the terms of the legislation, once agreement on the dispersal 

area has been reached between the Police and the Council, an 
authorisation notice must be produced and publicised by the Police 
(Appendix B to the report).  The notice must specify the relevant 
locality, the grounds on which the authorisation has been given and the 
period when the power to disperse is in force.  Before the authorisation 
comes into force, in this case before 31 January 2013, the notice must 
be published in a newspaper circulated in the relevant locality and 
posted in conspicuous places in the area. 
 

3.6. In 2004, there was a high level of anti-social behaviour on Temple Hill 
which was similarly tackled by the designation of a dispersal area 
focused around Temple Hill Square, which ran for a period of six 
months.  Due to the high Police presence groups were breaking up and 
scattering before Police intervention was needed meaning that 
relatively few persons were actually dispersed, however the 
designation of the area, the associated increase in enforcement activity 
and engagement with key individuals enabled the problem to be dealt 
with successfully and resulted in lower levels of anti-social behaviour 
and crime both in the area covered by the order and those which were 
just outside, proving that displacement did not in fact cause crime to 
rise in areas just outside of the dispersal area. 

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

This links with the strategic aim to create a safer borough in which to 
live, work and socialise. 
 
SC2 of the corporate plan, to reduce anti-social behaviour. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 8 Page 20



APPENDIX A 

CABINET 
24 JANUARY 2013 

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications As contained in the report.  

Staffing Implications 
There will be some work for the Community 
Safety Team in the run up and during this 
initiative. 

Administrative Implications None  

Risk Assessment 

There is a risk that the designation of a 
dispersal area will displace the problem to 
an adjacent area. This risk has been 
considered and mitigated by virtue of the 
area designated, the supporting measures 
to be put in place and the findings from 
previous dispersal notices issued by the 
Police which showed that there was no 
displacement effect caused by the 
designation of a dispersal  area. 

  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable 
 
7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Certificate of Dispersal Authority/Authorisation to 
Disperse Groups 
Appendix B – Draft Designated Area Notice 
Appendix C – Regulation 10 notice 
 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Documents consulted Date / 

File Ref 
Report Author Section and 

Directorate 
Exempt 

Information 
Category 

 
  Matt Roberts 

(01322) 343502 
Community 
Safety/ 
Strategic 

N/A 

 

Agenda Item 8Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A to Appendix A 

 
 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORITY TO DISPERSE GROUPS 

 
(Under the provisions of the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 Part 4 

Sections 30-36, in force from 20 January 2004) 

 

Area to be designated as Subject to Authority for Dispersal 

 

The area bounded by the following roads: Temple Hill, Temple Hill Square, Trevithick 

Drive, Henderson Drive, Littlebrook Manor Way, Attlee Drive, St Vincents Avenue. 

(See map included) 

 

Duration of the Authority 

 

From 31 January 2013 to 30 April 2013 (3 months).   

 

Reason for Seeking the Authority  

Joyce Green and Littlebrook wards have suffered a noticeable increase in the amount of 

Anti-Social Behaviour and volume crime offences over the past 3 months. Research 

shows incident reports for 115 theft offences, 79 assaults and 74 criminal damages. 

Alongside this there have been 80 calls received relating to nuisance youths in the area. 

Over the past 6 months figures show an approximate 20% increase in theft offences in 

Joyce Green and Littlebrook wards. Included in this is a 32% rise in shoplifting in Joyce 

Green Ward. 

 

There are currently 24 residents within these wards who are subject to individual Risk 

Assessment Matrix (RAM’s) due to being repeat victims of crime and/or anti social 

behaviour. Eight of these are related to a single group of young people who are acting 

anti-socially and committing many of the volume crime offences.   

 

This group consists of approximately 25 individuals who are congregating, causing alarm, 

distress and harassment to local businesses and residents living in this location.  Of these 

3 are currently being managed by the relevant Police CSU officers and by Dartford 

Housing Officers. A further 6 of the group are known to be active in ASB and volume 

crime. These 9 individuals are deemed to be ‘group leaders’ or heavily active within the 

group. At this time the other 16 are believed to be spectators but there is potential for 

them to become more active unless interventions are made. As a group even if the 

majority are spectators they are very intimidating to local residents and businesses. 

Current intelligence suggests that members of this group are now being pressurised by 

established drug dealers in the area into using and distributing Class A and B drugs. 

 

These ongoing issues have left the residents in the area feeling discontented and 

concerned for their safety. It has also become apparent that it is the fear of the group’s 

actions or reprisals that is preventing residents from coming forward to report incidents 

or identify those involved if they are witnesses to offences. 

 

In 2004 a Dispersal Zone was implemented, albet on an area of a much smaller scale, 

however it was very successful in reducing the levels of anti-social behaviour and the 

same is anticipated in this instance. 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 8Page 23



Appendix A to Appendix A 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Operation Beethoven has been designed to use Police and multi-agency enforcement to 

target known individuals. This will also involve referring those on the fringes to relevant 

organisations to reduce reoffending in anti-social behaviour or crime. 

 

Should this Authority be agreed a dedicated Police/DBC Community Safety Unit Team will 

be tasked to regularly patrol the area, in addition to the following: 

 

• High profile uniformed Police patrols. 

• DBC Civil Enforcement Officer and Parks Ranger patrols. 

• Youth Workers to engage young people on the fringes of the group being 

targeted. 

• Challenger Troop to run a course for identified young people.  

• Through the Community Safety Unit, joint working between Police and Council 

teams, to identify perpetrators and use appropriate interventions. 

• Liaison with DBC Housing Teams and Registered Social Landlords so that tenancy 

action can be taken where possible and appropriate. 

 

This Authority will help the residents and businesses by removing intimidation and anti-

social behaviour from the neighbourhood. 

 

 

Officer seeking the Authority: Name: Insp 8896 Cooke 

 

     Position: Dartford CSU Inspector Kent Police 

 

 

     Signature:……………………………………………………………………. 

 

     Date: 11 January 2013 

 
 

Agenda Item 8 Page 24



Appendix A to Appendix A 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Chief Superintendent’s/Superintendent’s Authority to Designate Area 

 

I, Superintendent Nicola Kiell, hereby certify on behalf of Kent Police, that I have 

reasonable grounds for believing that members of the public in the area specified above 

have been intimidated, harassed, alarmed or distressed as a result of the presence or 

behaviour of groups of two or more people in public places and that anti-social behaviour 

is a significant and persistent problem in that relevant area.  An Authorisation is 

therefore made for the Dispersal of Groups within the area specified above, for a period 

of 89 days from 31 January 2013 to 30 April 2013. 

 

 

Name: Nicola Kiell (Superintendent, Kent Police) 

 

 

Signature:……………………………………………………. 

 

Date: 

 

 

Agreement of Local Authority 

 

I, Graham Harris, hereby certify that I am authorised to consult on behalf of Dartford 

Borough Council and have consulted with Kent Police on the making of this Authority and 

am in agreement with its use. 

 

 

Name: Graham Harris (Chief Executive, DBC) 

 

 

Signature:……………………………………………………. 

 

Date: 

 

 

Publicity for the Authorisation 

 

The Authority to disperse groups within the Designated Area is to be extensively 

publicised prior to its use by means of numerous large posters prominently displayed and 

affixed to street furniture in the locality and by reports in a local newspaper that has a 

circulation in the area. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 8Page 25



Appendix A to Appendix A 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommended Area of the Authority. 

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map © Crown Copyright 2013 Dartford Borough Council 100025870  2013

Agenda Item 8 Page 26



Appendix A to Appendix A 

 
 

 

 

 

GUIDANCE NOTES FOR COMPLETION 

 

The power to disperse intimidating groups came into force on 20 January 2004 under the 

provisions of Part 4 Sections 30-36 Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003.  This enable the 

Police to disperse groups of two or more and return young people under 16 who are 

unsupervised in public places after 9.00pm to their homes.  The power can only be used 

in areas where members of the public have suffered intimidation, harassment, alarm or 

distress due to the presence of groups and where anti-social behaviour is a significant 

and persistent problem. 

 

The aim of these powers is to prevent people from feeling frightened and discouraged 

from using public spaces because they feel threatened by groups of people hanging 

around.  It also aims to protect children and young people from the risks linked to being 

unaccompanied on the streets late at night. 

 

These new powers are intended to enable the police and Local Authorities to work 

together to identify particular problem areas that need targeted action to help local 

communities to remove intimidation and anti-social behaviour from their streets.  These 

powers are intended to form part of an integrated response to tackling crime and 

disorder. 

 

The Authorisation 

 

An officer of at least the rank of Superintendent can make an authorisation where there 

are reasonable grounds for believing that members of the public have been intimidated, 

harassed, alarmed or distressed as a result of the presence or behaviour of groups of two 

or more people in public places in any locality in his policing area and that anti-social 

behaviour is a significant and persistent problem in the area concerned. 

 

‘Anti-social behaviour’ is defined in s.36 as ‘behaviour by a person which causes or is 

likely to cause harassment, alarm or distress to one or more persons not of the same 

household’.  There is no need to prove intent on the part of the offenders. 

 

In practical terms, the most common forms of behaviour involved include general loutish 

and unruly conduct such as verbal abuse, harassment, assault, graffiti and excessive 

noise.  However, many other examples such as racial harassment, drunk and disorderly 

behaviour, throwing missiles, vehicle nuisance and use of air weapons may be included. 

 

An authorisation may be made for a period of up to six months.  The area to which it 

applies must fall within the officer’s policing area.  It must be in writing, signed by the 

officer giving it and must specify the relevant locality, the grounds on which the 

authorisation is given and the period for which it is valid. 

 

Before an authorisation can be given, the relevant officer must obtain the agreement of 

the Local Authority. 

 

Publicity for Authorisation 

 

Once agreement has been obtained, an authorisation notice must be produced and 

publicised.  This notice must specify the relevant locality to which it applies, the grounds 

on which the authorisation has been given and the period when the power to disperse is 

in force.  Before the authorisation comes into force, the notice must be published in a 

newspaper circulated in the relevant locality and/or posted in a conspicuous place or 

places in the area concerned. 

Agenda Item 8Page 27



Appendix A to Appendix A 

 
 

 

 

 

Withdrawal of the Authorisation 

 

If at any time it is considered appropriate to withdraw the authorisation notice, then the 

Local Authority must be consulted.  The authorisation must be withdrawn by the relevant 

officer who granted it or any officer for the area of the same or higher rank.  The 

granting or withdrawal of an authorisation does not prevent a further authorisation for 

part or whole of the same area being given. 

 

Enforcement of the Authorisation 

 

The authorisation permits a constable or a community support officer to give directions to 

disperse groups.  Before giving a direction, the officer must have reasonable grounds for 

believing that the presence or behaviour of a group of two or more persons in any public 

place in the relevant locality has resulted, or is likely to result, in any members of the 

public being intimidated, harassed, alarmed or distressed. 

 

Directions to Disperse 

 

A direction may require the persons in the group to disperse (either immediately or by a 

specified time).  This applies even if the persons are resident in the area. 

 

A direction may require those persons who do not live within the relevant locality to leave 

it, or any part of it (either immediately or by a specified time). 

 

A direction may prohibit the return of those persons who do not live within the relevant 

locality from returning to the area or any part of it for a period as stated when giving the 

direction, but not exceeding 24 hours. 

 

When making a decision to disperse, conditions can be attached with which the persons 

must comply.  Officers can specify the time and area to which persons directed to 

disperse cannot return.  If those persons do not live in that relevant locality, the officer 

issuing the direction can order them not to return there for a specific period not 

exceeding 24 hours. 

 

A direction to disperse can be given orally, to any person individually or to a group of 

people together and may be withdrawn or varied by the officer issuing the direction. 

 

Directions of this kind cannot be given to persons engaged in trades union/labour 

disputes or those taking part in a public procession. 

 

Refusal to Comply with Directions to Disperse  

 

A constable in uniform may arrest without warrant any person who fails to comply with a 

direction to disperse.  The offence carries a penalty on summary conviction of a fine 

and/or 3 months imprisonment. 

 

Taking Children Home 

 

If an authorisation is in force, there is a further power to return a person under the age 

of 16 to their place of residence, which may be exercised by constables and community 

support officers:- 

 

If between 9.00pm and 6.00am, an officer finds a person in any public place in the 

relevant locality who he has reasonable grounds for believing is under the age of 16  

Agenda Item 8 Page 28



Appendix A to Appendix A 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

and is not under the effective control of a parent or responsible person aged 18 or 

over, then they may return that person to their place of residence. 

 

Before exercising this power, the officer must be satisfied that by returning the person to 

their place of residence they are not likely to suffer significant harm.  If the decision is 

made to return that person to the place of residence, the Local Authority must be 

informed.  This is an additional discretionary power on the part of the Police.  There is no 

obligation to take every child home. 

 

Powers of PCSOs 

 

The power to move on intimidating groups is at present restricted to police officers in 

uniform, though this may be extended to PCSOs in the future.  This does not prevent 

PCSOs from highlighting the presence of the Order and associated powers to encourage 

groups to move on and gather intelligence. 

Agenda Item 8Page 29



Page 30

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B to APPENDIX A 

DESIGNATED AREA 
 

With effect from 31 January 2013 until to 30 April 2013, the following location 
within Dartford has been designated as a Dispersal Area.  Groups of 2 or 
more persons found within the location causing or likely to cause harassment, 
alarm or distress may be dispersed under Part 4, Section 30 -36 of the Anti-
Social Behaviour Act 2003. 
 
Failure to comply with a request to leave the area could lead to your arrest. 

 

 
The area is designated by the red zone and is bound by the following roads: Temple 
Hill, Temple Hill Square, Trevithick Drive, Henderson Drive, Littlebrook Manor Way, 
Attlee Drive, St Vincents Avenue. 

 
If there is any discrepancy between the information above and the boundaries shown on the 

map included in the order, the area shown on the map will prevail. 
 

 
 

 

For more information contact the Dartford Community Safety Unit on 01322 343000  
or Kent Police on 101 

 

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map © Crown Copyright 2013 Dartford Borough Council 100025870  2013

Agenda Item 8Page 31



Page 32

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 8Page 33



Page 34

This page is intentionally left blank



               
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 

13 FEBRUARY 2013 
 

DARTFORD AND GRAVESHAM COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP (CSP): 
STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2012 

 

 
1. Summary 
 
1.1 To consider the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership 

(CSP) annual Strategic Assessment 2012 document, as presented to the 
CSP on 15 January 2013. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
  
2.1  That the Committee note the contents of the Partnership Strategic 

Assessment and any additions or amendments resulting from the CSP 
meeting of 15 January 2013; 
 

2.2       Endorse the priorities identified by the Strategic Assessment (SA) subject to 
required public consultation. 

 
2.3       Endorse the proposal to develop a new Community Safety Plan to address 

the priorities identified and to submit the draft Plan to the next meeting of the 
CSP on the 26 March 2013. 

 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 
3.1  Under the General Provisions of the Committee’s Terms of Reference 

(ToRs), and as an Overview function, the Committee is required to consider 
the annual Strategic Assessment (SA) in connection with the discharge by 
the Community Safety Partnership (CSP) of its crime and disorder functions 
and make recommendations accordingly.   

 
4.    Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

Member review of the annual Dartford and Gravesham CSP Strategic 
Assessment (SA) document, contributes to the Safer Community Objective 
Strategic Aim to create a safer Borough in which to work and live.  
 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments 

 

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment Member comment on the CSP 
proposals as set out in the annual 
Strategic Assessment (SA) 

Agenda Item 10Page 35



                 
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 

26 JANUARY 2011 
 

 
 

document should help to focus CSP 
efforts on ensuring a safer 
community for Dartford residents.  

 
5. Details of Exempt Information Category 

 
Part II: In-depth Analysis of the Strategic Assessment document has been 
placed on the closed part of the agenda (Agenda Item B), because it 
contains exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972 as 
contained within Standing Order 46 (1) (b) and Annex 1, para 7 namely: 
Information relating to any action taken to or to be taken in connection with 
the prevention , investigation or prosecution of crime, and in all 
circumstances of the case, the public interest in not disclosing the 
information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.   

 
6. Strategic Assessment (SA) 2012 Part II: In-depth Analysis 

 
Item A in the Exempt Agenda attached. 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Documents 
consulted 

Date File 
Ref 

Report  
Author 

Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

Dartford and 
Gravesham CSP 
SA 2012 

15 January 
2013 

 Matt Roberts 
01322 343502 

Community 
Safety/ 
Strategic 

N/A 

 
 
 
 

 
  
 

Agenda Item 10 Page 36



 

 1

 
By: Kath Donald (Gravesham CSU) 
 
To: Dartford & Gravesham CSP – 15 January 2013 
 
Subject: Draft Strategic Assessment 2012  
 
Classification: Open 
 
Summary: The report presents the Draft Strategic Assessment 2012 to provide 

members with an analysis of changes in levels of recorded crime and 
disorder over the last 12 months and the suggested strategic priorities 
that, if endorsed, will form the basis of the new Dartford and Gravesham 
Community Safety Plan 2013-14. 

 

Recommendations 
 
Members of the CSP are asked to: 
 
i)  consider the content of the draft Strategic Assessment and comment as appropriate; 
 
ii)  endorse the suggested strategic priorities for the Community Safety Plan 2013-14; 
 
iii) if endorsed, to consider whether new Sub-Groups should be established to take 

forward work on Anti-Social Behaviour and Safety on the Road. 

 
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1. Community Safety Partnerships are legally obliged to complete a Strategic Assessment 

(an audit of crime and disorder levels) on an annual basis under the requirements of the 
Crime and Disorder Act 1998.  The process is intended to help Partnerships inform 
decisions when determining future priorities for multi-agency action. 

 
1.2 The Strategic Assessment is usually a very detailed and extensive document that pools 

information from all partner agencies and then supplemented by demographic 
information to provide perspective and context.  Members may be aware that this year’s 
Strategic Assessment is shorter than the document provided in previous years.  
However, members are assured that in providing a briefer document, no key data or 
information has been sacrificed: the document has simply been condensed and some 
technical graphs that have previously been included have been omitted to make the 
Assessment more digestible.   

 
1.3 Members may be aware that there has been a delay this year in the release of data 

packs to local Districts that has significantly reduced the time available to officers to 
prepare this year’s Assessment.  Some local information and some additional contextual 
information may still be added into the final document. However, this information will not 
have any bearing on the general findings or the strategic priorities for 2013-14 being 
recommended to the Partnership for endorsement. 

Agenda Item 10Page 37



 

 2

2. Key Findings and recommended priorities 
 
2.1 The Assessment provides a full analysis of all the main crime categories and of other key 

areas of interest such as anti-social behaviour, reducing re-offending and road safety.  
The majority of the data compares the 12 month period ending 30 September 12 with the 
previous 12 months.  Headline findings include: 

 

• A reduction in total crime across our CSP area of 3.9% although this is reached 
by a 8.1% reduction in Dartford and a slight increase of 0.7% in Gravesham; 
 

• A reduction in violent crime (violence against the person, sexual and robbery 
offences) in Dartford of 6.6% and an increase in Gravesham of 7.0%.  A 
significant proportion of violent crime in each Borough relates to domestic abuse 
and is concerned with incidents that take place in private dwellings rather than 
public places; 

 

• Certain forms of acquisitive crime such as burglary dwelling offences and theft 
offences have seen an increase or, even in the cases of a decrease, remain high 
in volume; 

 

• Whilst recorded drug offences record a decrease, the close links between drug 
dependency and acquisitive crime and the correlation between alcohol misuse 
and violence (including domestic) remain issues of concern; 

 

• Very good reductions have been seen in recorded incidents of anti-social 
behaviour but as an issue ASB absorbs a huge proportion of multi-agency 
resources and in terms of volume, numbers remain high.  ASB is also an issue 
that is consistently high on the public agenda; 

 

• Rates of reducing re-offending in Dartford and Gravesham have improved 
although still remain slightly higher than the predicted rates; 

 

• Road safety has emerged as an issue that could benefit considerably from 
prioritisation by the Partnership with Dartford in particular, experiencing higher 
levels of road traffic collisions.  Issues relating to speeding are often cited in 
public consultative fora and the proposed Swanscombe development will 
potentially also have a considerable impact on our road infrastructure that will 
affect motorists and pedestrians alike.  

 
2.2 The CSP Executive Group met on 7 January 2013 to consider the findings of the draft 

Assessment and to begin the process of indentifying our priorities for the new financial 
year.  The Theme Ranking Process, as applied in previous years, was used to score 
each of the key areas considered in the Assessment based on: 

 

• Perception of community concern; 

• Level of harm/impact on community (physical/economic) 

• Volume 

• Trend over time 

• Performance compared to other Districts/County/MSG) 

• Partnership contribution (can partnership working add value) 
 

A more detailed explanation of each of the above and ‘scorecards’ are included at the 
end of the draft Assessment attached.  In addition to these, the Executive Group also 
took account of factors/changing circumstances that may have come to light since 
October (outside the Strategic Assessment period) that it would be prudent to consider 

Agenda Item 10 Page 38



 

 3

e.g. the Swanscombe development, national and local economic situations and the 
continuing impact of the recession. 
 

2.3 The Executive Group concluded that the priorities for the new Community Safety Plan 
2013-14 should be: 

 

• Violent crime (including domestic abuse); 

• Anti-social behaviour; 

• Acquisitive crime (initially focussing on theft offences and burglary dwelling but 
responding to those categories that are most prevalent and to changing 
circumstances throughout the year); 

• Substance misuse; 

• Safety on the road; 

• Reducing re-offending (as a cross-cutting theme). 
 

2.4 In the existing Community Safety Plan, ‘youth offending and the safety of young people’ 
was dealt with as an individual priority.  The proposal is that youth offending and reducing 
young victims will be addressed as part of the work that will be conducted to tackle the 
priority areas e.g. if there particular issue relating to young people and substance misuse, 
that will be addressed as part of the ‘Substance Misuse’ priority and delivered via the 
Drug and Alcohol Action Group. 

 
2.5 Whilst both Dartford and Gravesham operate ASB Groups these are multi-agency groups 

that meet to discuss individual cases rather than broader ASB issues/initiatives.  
Members of the CSP may wish to consider whether or not there is a need/benefit in 
establishing an ASB sub-Group of the CSP and whether a Sub-Group should also be 
created to take forward work to improve safety on the road. 

 
 
Kath Donald 
Strategic Manager, Community Safety 
Gravesham Community Safety Unit 

 
 

Agenda Item 10Page 39



Page 40

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
CRIME and DISORDER (Overview & Scrutiny) COMMITTEE 
 

Rolling Work Programme 2013/14 
  
Detail: 
 
On a discretionary basis and with the prior agreement of the 
Community Safety Partnership (CSP) as appropriate, a review of 
the contribution made by the following partner agencies to the 
aims of the CSP: 
 

• Kent Probation – measures to combat re-offending and the extension 
of the Community Payback scheme in Dartford were of particular 
interest; 

• Kent County Council – KCC’s responsibilities for Youth, Community 
and Trading Standards under the 2-tier system for the County were 
obvious areas for Committee interest; 

• NHS West Kent – it was recognised consideration in the short-term 
would prove difficult given the radical changes being proposed for the 
Health framework. It was agreed furthermore that particular interest in 
the impact of mental health problems on community safety would be 
progressed through a review of mental health services in the Borough 
undertaken jointly with the main Scrutiny Committee and the Policy 
Overview Committee, once Health structures and personnel are 
settled. 

Plus: 
 

• Any Draw-downs submitted within statutory timescales, subject to on-
going advice from Officers.   

 
 

On a statutory basis to; 
 

• Consider the CSP’s annual Strategic Assessment (SA) document; 

• Consider the CSP’s annual Community Safety Plan document; 
 

It is suggested that these work plan items be scheduled as shown below. The 
Work Plan will be reviewed at each meeting and discretionary items can be 
added / rescheduled in accordance with the Committee’s wishes and the 
advice of the Strategic Director. 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 11Page 41



 
 
 
 
 

Meeting Work Plan Items 

    

February 
2013 

Strategic 
Assessment 

Review of the contribution of the 
Probation Service to the CSP and to the 
aims of the CSP 

 

Summer 
2013 

Community 
Safety Plan 

Review of the contribution of Kent County 
Council to the CSP and to the aims of the 
CSP 

 

Winter 2013 / 
Spring 2014 

Strategic 
Assessment 

Review of the contribution of Health to the 
CSP and to the aims of the CSP 

 

Summer 
2014 

Community 
Safety Plan 

Review of the introduction of Police and 
Crime Commissioners and the impact on 
community safety in Dartford  

 

 
 
 
 
Member Services        February 2013 

 

Agenda Item 11 Page 42



Agenda Item APage 43
By virtue of paragraph(s) 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Agenda Item APage 82

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 12 September 2012
	7 Regulation 9 Notice
	8 Regulation 10 Notice [General Exception Provisions Relating To Key Decisions] : Certificate of Authority to Disperse Groups
	Dispersal Area General Exception APPENDIX A PART 1 FINAL
	Dispersal Area General Exception APPENDIX A PART 2 FINAL
	Dispersal Area General Exception APPENDIX A PART 3 FINAL
	Dispersal Area General Exception APPENDIX A PART 4 FINAL

	10 Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment (SA): Part I - Executive Summary
	Draft Assessment.ExecutiveSummary

	11 Work Programme
	A Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment (SA) : Part II

